





FOOD SECURITY AND CLIMATE CHANGE: a case study of punjab, pakistan

This project is funded by the European Union

Copyright © 2018 Civil Society Coalition for Climate Change (CSCCC)

Suggested reference: Civil Society Coalition for Climate Change (2018). Food Security and Challenges of Climate Change: A Case Study of Punjab, Pakistan

Authors:

Dr. Imran Saqib Khalid Dr. Abid Qaiyum Suleri Ghamz E Ali Siyal Ahmed Awais Khaver Muhammad Awais Umar Ayesha Amjad Qaisrani Samavia Batool

 3rd Floor 14 Feroz Center, Block D, Fazl-ul-Haq Road, Blue Area, Islamabad 44000, Pakistan

www.csccc.org.pk

- info@csccc.org.pk
- cscccpak
- climateinfo.pk

FOOD SECURITY AND CLIMATE CHANGE: a case study of punjab, pakistan

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

This report is a result of collaborative effort between the Civil Society Coalition for Climate Change (CSCCC) and the Sustainable Development Policy Institute (SDPI). We owe a debt of gratitude to the SDPI research team including Ghamz E Ali Siyal, Ahmed Awais Khaver, Muhammad Awais Umar, Samavia Batool and Ayesha Qaisrani. A special thanks to Dr Imran Saqib Khalid and Dr Abid Qayyum Suleri for their continued and valuable guidance, without which this report could not have been possible. We also acknowledge and thank Anam Zeb (CSCCC), Hassaan Sipra (CCRD), Hasan Rizvi (CSCCC) for their advice in reviewing and editing the report.

AUTHORS

DR. IMRAN SAQIB KHALID

Research Fellow

Dr. Imran Saqib Khalid is a Research Fellow at the Sustainable Development Policy Institute (SDPI). Prior to joining the SDPI, Imran worked with the Great Lakes Research Consortium in Syracuse, New York, on developing strategies for enhancing resilience to climate change in communities along Lake Ontario and Lake Erie. Imran holds a Ph.D. in Environmental and Natural Resources Policy, and a master's degree in Environmental Policy and Democratic Processes, from SUNY College of Environmental Science and Forestry, Syracuse, New York. Furthermore, Imran has a master's degree in Environmental Engineering from National University of Science and Technology (NUST) and a bachelor's degree in Environmental Science from Virginia Tech. In addition, he also holds a Certificate of Advanced Study in Conflict Resolution from the Maxwell School at Syracuse University, New York.

DR. ABID QAIYUM SULERI

Ex-officio Member / Executive Director SDPI

Dr Abid Qaiyum Suleri has been heading Sustainable Development Policy Institute, Pakistan's premier policy research think-tank, since 2007. He is the member of different policy making forums and advisory boards, including Prime Minister's Economic Advisory Council; National Advisory Committee of Planning Commission of Pakistan; Government of Punjab's Agricultural Universities Vice-Chancellor's Search Committee; and different committees/councils formed by Ministry of Planning, Development & Reforms; Ministry of Finance; Ministry of Climate Change and the Higher Education Commission of Pakistan among others. He is a regular guest speaker at National Institute of Management Lahore, Islamabad; National Defense University, Islamabad; and Pakistan Institute of Parliamentary Services where he delivers lectures on different aspects of sustainable development to the career civil servants, officers of armed forces, and parliamentarians. He is an acclaimed writer and besides publishing in academic journals also contributes his policy analysis on sustainable development issues both in print and electronic media. He is also editor-in-chief of SDPI peer reviewed journal, "Journal of Development Policy, Research and Practice". Dr Suleri earned his PhD in food security from University of Greenwich, UK in May 2000.

GHAMZ E ALI SIYAL

Research Assistant

Ghamz E Ali Siyal did his BS in Economics from COMSATS Institute of Information and Technology and after competition of MPhil; he is pursuing his PhD from US. He specializes in agricultural economics, crop insurance and migration. He has been a regular contributor to SDPI's multiple research projects with several publications.

AHMED AWAIS KHAVER

Research Assistant

Ahmed Awais Khaver holds a MSc. in international relations from National Defense University, and is currently enrolled in Mphil program at Bahria University. He specializes in fields of water governance, flood management and climate change. He has been serving in SDPI for more than 2 years now while being a part of diverse fields of research from cyber security to foreign policy.

MUHAMMAD AWAIS UMAR

Research Assistant

Muhammad Awais Umar completed his MPhil degree in Environmental Economics from Pakistan Institute of Development Economics (PIDE), Islamabad. He has over 2-year experience of managing field work, data management, data analysis, and research. Currently, he is working as Research Assistant at SDPI. He is involved in various projects, including Migration Futures in Asia and Africa.

ayesha amjad qaisrani

Research Assistant

Ayesha Qaisrani works as a Research Associate at Sustainable Development Policy Institute (SDPI). She holds a MS degree in Economics from National University of Science and Technology and a BS (hons) degree in Economics from COMSATS Institute of Information and Technology. She has research experience in gender issues, climate change and poverty and has a number of publications in her name. She can be contacted at ayesha-qaisrani@sdpi.org

SAMAVIA BATOOL

Research Assistant

Samavia Batool holds a Master's degree in Economics from Quaid-e-Azam University, Islamabad. At SDPI, she has conducted impactful research on a range of topics relating to climate change adaptation, sustainable livelihoods, value chains, gender, Sustainable Development Goals, regional trade and human resource development. She has an extensive experience of project management, communications, M&E and knowledge management. She can be reached at samavia@sdpi.org.

Civil Society Coalition for Climate Change (CSCCC)

CSCCC provides a networking platform for civil society organizations, climate experts, academia, researchers, media, private sector and concerned citizens to exchange ideas and build synergies while preserving and strengthening the autonomy and independence of its members. The coalition approach was adopted to enhance civil society capacity for effective engagement with policy makers to support mitigation and adaptation actions that build resilience and reduce vulnerability at all levels by integrating adaptation into relevant socio-economic and environmental policies for sustainable development. The concept of the coalition is in line with the Lima-Paris Action Agenda (LPAA) and Paris Agreement on Climate Change which recognizes civil society as a key player in framing climate policies to strengthen climate governance. The strategic focus of the coalition also covers Agenda 2030 for Sustainable Development particularly SDG13 (Climate Action). CSCCC works with "A Whole of Government Approach" and follows the guidelines of "Open Government Partnership (OGP)" to achieve its objectives.

The Civil Society Civil Society Coalition for Climate Change (CSCCC) is a licensed Coalition (registered under Section 42 of the Companies Ordinance, 1984) dedicated to highlighting the subject of climate change in Pakistan and influencing policymaking at the regional, national and subnational levels through research, knowledge-sharing, and advocacy.

Disclaimer:

The views and analysis contained in the publication are those of the author and do not necessarily represent the views of CSCCC.



TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABBI	REVIATION	IS	02
EXE(CUTIVE SU	IMMARY	03
1.	CLIMA	TE CHANGE AND ITS IMPLICATIONS FOR DEVELOPMENT	04
	1.1	South Asian Context	04
	1.2	Impacts of Climate Change on Agriculture in Pakistan:	05
	1.3	Food Security	05
2.	FOOD	SECURITY OF PUNJAB	07
	2.1	Food Availability and Linkages to Agriculture	07
	2.2	Food Access	09
	2.3	Utilisation of Food	10
	2.4	Stability of Food	11
3.	CLIMA	TE CHANGE VULNERABILITY IN PUNJAB	12
	3.1.	Temperature and Rainfall Trends in Punjab	12
	3.2.	Precipitation Trends in Punjab	14
	3.3.	Agro Ecological Zones and Vulnerabilities	15
	3.4.	Extreme Events	16
4.	CLIMA	TE CHANGE AND FOOD SECURITY INTER-LINKAGES	18
	4.1	Impacts of Climate Change on Food Security	18
	4.2	Climate Change Models Predictions	21
	4.3.1	Section on Micro-evidence of Climate Change and Food Security	22
	4.3.2	Results	23
5.	CONCI	LUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS	27
REFE			29

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1:	Crop Yields of Major Crops (Kg/hectare)	- 08
Table 2:	Loss and Damage due to Floods	16

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1:	Food Security at a National, Household and Intra-household level	06
Figure 2:	Food Security Perceptions in Punjab	07
Figure 3:	Crop Yields of Major Crops in Punjab (kg/hectare)	08
Figure 4:	Prevalence of Multidimensional Poverty in Pakistan	09
Figure 5:	Cost of Food Basket (PKR) per Capita/month	10
Figure 6:	Mean Annual Temperature (1981-2015) for Pakistan	12
Figure 7:	Temperature Projections for Pakistan based on CMIP5 Model	13
Figure 8:	Average Annual Rainfall (1982-2016)	14
Figure 9:	Precipitation Projections for Pakistan based on CMIP5 Model	15
Figure 10:	Agro-Ecological Zones of Punjab	15
Figure 11:	Drought Prone Districts of Pakistan	17
Figure 12:	Pakistan Recurrence of Vulnerability to Food Insecurity Map	17
Figure 13:	Forecasting about Changes in Precipitation and Temperature	21
Figure 14:	Heat Waves Forecasts	22
Figure 15:	Study Sites	23
Figure 16:	Food Security Situation and Reasons of Crop Loss in Faisalabad	24
Figure 17:	Faisalabad Coping Strategies	24
Figure 18:	Food Security Situation and Reasons of Crop Loss in D.G Khan	25
Figure 19:	D.G Khan Coping Measures	25
Figure 20:	Muzzaffargarh Coping Strategies	26

ABBREVIATIONS

ADB	Asian Development Bank
BISP	Benazir Income Support Program
CLIS	Crop Loan Insurance Scheme
D.G Khan	Dera Ghazi Khan
FAO	Food and Agriculture Organization
GoP	Government of Pakistan
GCM	Global Climate Models
GHG	Green House Gases
IFAD	InternationalFundforA gricultureDevelopment
IPCC	Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change
MoCC	Ministry of Climate Change
MPI	Multi-dimensional Poverty Index
NNS	National Nutritional Survey
PRISE	Pathways to Resilience in Semi-arid Economies
PRECIS	Providing Regional Climates for Impact Studies
RCM	Regional Climate Models
SBP	State Bank of Pakistan
WFP	World Food Program

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Climate change is a global phenomenon with disproportionate impacts on different geographical areas. Pakistan has been declared one of the top ten countries facing severe climate risks. Further, climate change impacts every component of food security, namely: availability, access, utilization and stability. The food securityclimate change nexus is evident through studies depicting previous trends that also forecast its negative influences through spatial and nonspatial analysis. This study conducted a literature review from previous studies for spatial analysis and analyzed micro-evidences derived from two projects: Pathways to Resilience in Semi-arid Economies (PRISE) and R4 Rural Resilience Initiatives in Punjab.

The main objectives of this study are:

To understand food security components and their relationship with climate change impacts and climate disasters in Punjab, Pakistan.

To identify a set of key policies to deal with food security and the challenges of climate change in the most vulnerable communities of Punjab, Pakistan.

The objectives of this study are based on climate change models and micro-evidences from both projects' survey. The spatial analysis of climate change predictions and their impacts are given through climate change models. Second, microevidences focus on land size and their relationship with food security issues and adaptive measures by farmers. It focuses on developing links between land size and food security conditions of farmers in Punjab districts of Muzzaffargarh, Dera Ghazi Khan (D.G Khan) and Faisalabad.

The key findings drawn out of the analysis are as follows:

Food security faces climate-induced risks: The climate models, namely, Global Circulation Model (GCM) and Regional Climate Model (RCM) confirm threats of climate change from irregular precipitation and rising temperature in Pakistan. Particularly, Punjab province, which is a major contributor of agriculture products (major crops, namely, wheat, rice, maize, grains and sugarcane) faces climate change impacts along with rising

climate extremes. The rising trends of prolonged droughts, hill torrents and downstream flash floods and severe heat waves are expected to be intensified in future. These climate changes and extreme climatic conditions have significant impact on crop productivity, particularly for wheat, sugarcane, cotton, rice, and minor crops.

Food security is subject to land size: The microevidences of farmers in Punjab's districts of Muzzaffargarh, D.G Khan and Faisalabad present a strong relationship between climate change, land size and food security. Farmers reported facing rising challenges of food security due to climatic disasters (floods and droughts) followed by pest attack, rainfall, wind and hailstorms. The common coping strategies used by farmers are diversification of income sources, credit borrowing, modification of food production, reduction in food and non-food items and migration of family member.

Way forward: Government of Pakistan has already taken initiatives such as the Benazir Income Support Program (BISP) and the Crop Loan Insurance Scheme (CLIS) in order to enhance food security. However, there is need for enhancing resilience of farmers by initiating crop insurance and credit borrowing policies that not only provide security in case of financial losses but also support farmers during future cropping activities. Along with that, the government should introduce a national food bank scheme to ensure food supply in hotspot regions meets postdisaster shortages. Furthermore, there is a need for enhancing cash transfers and capacities of farmers in order to strengthen food chains and diversification of income.

1. CLIMATE CHANGE AND ITS IMPLICATIONS FOR DEVELOPMENT

Significant time and attention is being given to the subject of climate change and its impacts on economy, rural livelihoods and development. Scientific evidence shows that rising temperatures, extreme weather events and changes in sea level will adversely affect the global economy, livelihoods and sustainable development (Madzwamuze 2010). Projections and estimations suggest that the poorer countries will be disproportionately impacted, as they do not possess the capacity and resources to deal with the threats resulting from climate change. These countries and peoples need support and assistance to turn their current coping strategies into long term adaptive capacities (OECD 2009). According to Arndt and Tarp (2017), an estimated 900 million people live in absolute poverty in today's world. Further, 36 out of 192 countries continue to be affected by poverty and languish in the low-income category. Under such poverty, the implications of climate change would be severe, especially for agriculture based livelihoods and economies.

The Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) states in its 5th Assessment Report that more than half of the observed increases in global average surface temperatures from 1951 to 2010 was caused by the increase in atmospheric concentrations of GHGs due to anthropogenic activities. The report further states that a change in extreme weather events has also been observed since 1950 (IPCC 2014). Due to human influences on climate, several climatic changes have been observed, namely: decline in cold temperature extremes, increase in in extreme warm temperatures, rising sea level, increasing number of heavy precipitation events, increase in number of hot nights and decrease in number of cold nights. As a result, heat waves have increased in occurrence in Europe, Asia and Australia. All emission-assessing scenarios find that temperatures will continue to rise in the twenty first century, heat waves will increase in occurrence and so will precipitation extremes (Ibid).

1.1 South Asian Context

The largely poor and rural population of South Asia is at significant risk from the impacts of climate change. The region has already started to witness an increase in extreme weather events such as heat waves and floods (Bhandari 2018). Furthermore, it is stated that a general warming of 2 to 4°C in sea surface temperature is projected to increase tropical cyclone intensities by 10 to 20% in South Asia (Bals et. al., 2008). Rising temperatures along with a decrease in precipitation is likely to exacerbate the issue of water scarcity in South Asia, where water resources are already under stress due to rising demand caused by growing population, and inefficiencies of water use. Projected impacts of climate change in the region suggest increased risk of hunger and decline in yields. Furthermore, it is stated that by 2080, 266 million people in Asia could face hunger. For every 1°C rise in temperature there will be a rise in demand for agricultural water from 6 to 10% (Ibid). If we continue on the current development trajectory, impacts of climate change would reduce GDP growth rates by 2-7 percent. It is estimated that GDP would be 50 percent lower in South Asia as a result of climate change by 2050 (Gogoi et al., 2017)

Impacts of climate change on agriculture would not only result in decreased yields and increased water demand, but also impact production, market dynamics and prices (FAO 2016). The negative impacts of climate change would hurt the national economies significantly where agriculture is the mainstay. Similarly, the countries which are most at risk are the ones that have significant rural and poor populations who do not have the capabilities to tackle the threats of changing climate (Ibid).

The Asia region as a whole has been the worst hit in terms of weather and climate extreme events from year 2000 to 2008. Moreover, the region suffered the economic losses to the tune of 30%, of total global losses due to extreme weather events (CDKN 2014). The negative impacts of climate change on natural resources and ecosystems has a resulting negative impact on agrarian livelihoods.

1.2 Impacts of Climate Change on Agriculture in Pakistan:

Pakistan is amongst the countries most at risk from the adverse impacts of climate change (Kreft et. al., 2017).

In Pakistan, agriculture contributes 19.8% to GDP, while engaging a significant 42.3% of the total national labor force. Similarly, 67% of the rural labor force is directly or indirectly involved in agrarian activities, which makes agriculture a key component of country's economy and people's livelihood options (GoP 2016). This sector is solely responsible for meeting the food requirements of the rising population. The effects of any fluctuations and variations in agriculture impact peoples livelihoods, which in turn affects their food security, especially the rural poor (Arif 2007). Realizing the importance of addressing food insecurity, the Government of Pakistan in its Vision 2025 document aims to reduce the proportion of food insecure populations from approximately 60% at present to 30% by 2025 (Pakistan Vision 2025).

Increasing temperatures will result in enhanced heat and water-stressed conditions, especially in arid and semi-arid regions, leading to reduced agricultural productivity (GoP 2013). The Asian Development Bank (2017) has predicted that the estimated rise in temperature in Pakistan will be higher as compared to the global average. The report suggests the need to assess negative impacts of climate change on agriculture in Pakistan to ensure food security and sustainable agricultural livelihoods. The report further states that precipitation rate does not show any systemic changes, whereas number of hot days and nights are projected to increase considerably and result in significant decline in yields in rice and wheat crops (Ibid).

1.3 Food Security

The Food and Agriculture Organisation (FAO) and the World Food Programme (WFP) define food security in terms of universal access to 'sufficient, safe and nutritious' food that fulfills the adequate dietary requirements and provides satisfaction for a healthy life at all times (FAO and WFP 2009). The definition of food security has undergone several changes over the years since the 1970s, with contributions from the World Food Summit (WFS), FAO, World Bank, and others. What started as a definition based on 'availability' of food by the World Food Conference in 1974 now encompasses aspects of socioeconomic access to food, its nutritional value and dietary preferences (Arif 2007).

FAO (2008) highlights the four pillars of food security, which form the basis of its measurement and determination. These include:

- 1. Physical availability of food;
- 2. Economic and physical access to food; and
- 3. Utilization of food.
- 4. Stability of food

As the world embarks on eradicating hunger by 2030 under the Sustainable Development Goals, Pakistan still has a long way to go in terms of improving its food security situation. Ranked 106 out of 119 countries in the Global Hunger Index (GHI) (IFPRI 2017), Pakistan is listed in the group of countries with the highest prevalence of hunger. GHI (2017) labels 22% of Pakistan's population as undernourished. As per the last National Nutrition Survey that was conducted in 2011, the state of food security in Pakistan has worsened in recent years, rising from 50% in 2003 to 58.1% in 2011 (NNS 2011). Factors for this rise include poverty, social and political issues and population growth. It is of note that climate change was not addressed in this report. Further, according to World Food Programme (WFP), 60% of Pakistan's population is currently food insecure, with women and the poor among the most marginalized. The gravity of the situation can be assessed by the fact that 43% of Pakistan's children under the age of 5 are suffering from malnutrition, in addition to more than 15% suffering from acute malnutrition (NNS, 2011).

		Food Security	
Levels	Availability	Accessibility	Sustainability
National Level	ProductionImports	Per capita food availability.Per capita income. 	Incidence of poverty in the country Level of human resource development of the country Standard of living of
Household Level	 Production Storage Purchase	 Household income. Market Prices. Preferences and tastes. 	a household.
Within Household	Division of labour between different household members, i.e., the allocation of resource and responsibilities	 Market prices. Who has control over cash income. Who is the major decision-maker. 	Differences in the social and economic status of household members.

Figure 1: Food Security at a National, Household and Intra-household level

Source: Nazli and Hamid (1999)

2. FOOD SECURITY OF PUNJAB

Provincially, Punjab has fared better in terms of food security as compared to the other provinces of Pakistan¹. According to the National Nutrition Survey (2011), out of a total sample size of 30,000 households, less than half (40.5%) of the respondents from Punjab considered themselves food secure. Among the 59.5% that considered themselves food insecure, 32.2% were food insecure without facing hunger. These include households facing food insecurity in the form of adequate but poor quality of food supply. Approximately 18.5% reported food insecurity with hunger and 8.8% reported food insecurity with severe hunger (Figure 1). In this context, Punjab appeared to be performing better in terms of an overall proportion of food secure population compared to the Federally Administered Tribal Areas (FATA), Sindh and Balochistan. Geographically, the central part of the province is found to be more food insecure than northern and southern parts of Punjab. Food security has positive relations with income, education, livestock assets and number of earners in household but negative linkages with family size (Bashir et al., 2012). The northern areas of Punjab, like Potohar region face severe challenges in terms of food security because of lower agriculture production, inefficient utilization of land, insufficient off-farm opportunities and volatile income in rural and urban areas (Abbasi et al., 2014).





Source: (NNS 2011)

2.1 Food Availability and Linkages to Agriculture

Food availability refers to the supply dimension of food security and is defined in terms of food production, stocks and storage of food, transfers and aid of food products and net trade in food items (FAO 2008). In other words, it is determined by a combination of food production as well as market availability of food in the country. Food availability in Pakistan is intrinsically linked to its agriculture sector through crop based and livestock based food production. Pakistan is generally self-sufficient in terms of food production, although distribution of food production greatly varies across different regions of the country (Ramay 2013). Wheat, a staple food crop in Pakistan is grown over 40% of the country's cultivated land during the 'rabi' or winter crop season (USDA Foreign Agricultural Service 2018). In 2017, it constituted 10% of the value added to the agriculture sector and 2% to the total Gross Domestic Product (GDP) (GoP 2017). The country's major crops, wheat, rice, sugarcane, maize and cotton are contributing 23.85% to agriculture and 4.66% to the GDP (GoP 2017). Since 1990s, crop yield is fluctuating because of its higher dependence on weather conditions (Hussain and Akram 2008). In 2016, the overall growth rate of crops was 3.46% against the target of 3.5%. Wheat, sugarcane, maize and rice all experienced an improvement in yield; however, wheat witnessed a decline in growth at 0.46% compared to 2.18% in the

¹The National Nutrition Survey (2011)

previous year. Livestock, accounting for 58.33% in the agriculture sector grew by 3.43% as compared to 3.36% in 2016 and the fishing sector experienced a growth of 1.23%, lower than its performance in 2016 during which it grew by 3.25% (GoP 2017).

Years	Sugarcane	Rice	Wheat	Maize
2012-2013	56,466	2,398	2,796	3,981
2013-2014	57,511	2,437	2,824	4,233
2014-2015	55,062	2,422	2,726	4,323
2015-2016	57,897	2,483	2,779	4,426
2016-2017 (P)	60,428	2,514	2,845	4,595

Table	1:	Crop	Yields	of	Maior	Crops	(Kg/hectare))
101010		0.00		••••		0.000	(129/110000010)	1

Source: GOP, 2017

Punjab is considered the breadbasket of Pakistan owing to its land fertility and a strong network of irrigation canals. The province has the largest share in agricultural food production, e.g. 75.5% of wheat, 70.2% of rice, 79.8% of maize, 86.5% of gram and 67.8% of sugarcane (Samee et al., 2015) (Figure 2). It also has the most contributions to fruit production, providing 76.8% of national production of guava, 79.6% of mangoes, 96.5% of citrus fruits and similar high proportions in a variety of vegetables including pumpkin, cucumber, eggplant, beans, spinach, radish, cabbage etc. (Ibid.). Punjab performs better than the rest of the provinces in terms of production of staple crops and also provides the largest share for the rest of country; however, even within Punjab, there are wide disparities in terms of crop production (Ramay 2013).

Figure 3 shows yields of major crops in Punjab (kg/hectare). The graphs indicate that the yields have steadily increased over the years.

















Source: (Ibid)

In addition to these food crops, livestock production also determines food availability. As per the 2006 Livestock Census, Punjab hosts 14 million cattle, 17 million buffaloes, 6.3 million sheep, 19 million goats, and 25 million poultry (GoP 2006). The by-products of these animals are an important source of meat and dairy food requirements for the whole country. In fact, 40 billion litres of milk is produced annually in Pakistan, most of which comes from Punjab (Samee et al. 2015). In light of these statistics, the status of food availability is quite satisfactory in the Punjab province.

2.2 Food Access

Food security can only be ensured if the available, required and desired food is also accessible and within reach of the population at all times. It refers to economic and social means to benefit from the available food (Arif 2007). While availability of food is rather satisfactory in Pakistan in general and Punjab in particular, food insecurity is largely shaped by the unequal access to different types of food. Thus, food access is a major hurdle in ensuring food security in Pakistan.

The Economic Survey 2018 reveals that percentage of people living below the poverty line is at 24.3 percent (Farooq 2018). Multidimensional poverty estimates are even more discouraging, with approximations of as much as 39% of the population labeled poor² (UNDP 2016). Even though Punjab appears to have lower scores of multidimensional poverty, yet within the province, there are quite significant disparities, especially within the rural-urban dichotomy (Figure 4).





Source: UNDP (2016)

The agriculture sector not only contributes to food production, but also employs 42.3% of the national labor force (GoP 2017). However, most of the agriculture producers are small landholders and most of the agricultural labor includes wage laborers, earning low incomes (SDPI 2009). Rural women are extensively engaged in the agriculture sector as landless laborers and small farmers; they are generally engaged in agriculture production, vegetable hoeing and livestock rearing (Samee et al. 2015). It must be highlighted that women working on the farms and their time spent on livestock rearing is rarely counted as economic activity (Ibid.). This limits their access to economic resources, and thus may restrict their access to food.

The challenges to food access are also linked to the high unemployment rate (5.9% in 2016 as per estimates of Pakistan Bureau of Statistics (2016) as

²The term '*poor*' is based on intensity and incidence of deprivation in multidimensional poverty index.

well as the high inflation rate³. The core inflation rate in Pakistan averaged 7.52% per annum during the time period from 2010 to 2017 (State Bank of Pakistan 2017). It also peaked at an all-time high of 11.40% in June 2012 (Ibid.). Between January and June 2017, prices of wheat and wheat flour decreased and prices of non-cereal food crops also decreased. However, the price decline was

offset by a rise in prices of chicken, cooking oil and vegetable ghee (WFP 2017). In addition, fluctuations in fuel prices also impact the accessibility to food. High poverty rates, coupled with high unemployment rates and inflation rates all act in unison to determine the discouraging state of food security in Pakistan through their impact on food access (Figure 5).



Figure 5: Cost of Food Basket (PKR) per Capita/month

Source: GoP (2017)

2.3 Utilisation of Food

Food security not only includes availability and access to food, it also entails food consumption. Food consumption is closely linked to nutrition and meeting the energy requirements of the population (Arif 2007). Besides relating to solid food intake, proper food utilisation embodies clean drinking water and sanitation facilities as they determine the extent of nutritional value. In urban areas, food accounts for 46% of the total household expenditure, while in rural areas it is 58% of the total expenditure (Malik et al. 2014). During the period of 1949-50 to 2012-13, calorie intake on average increased from 2,078 kcal per capita to 2,450 kcal per capita (Ibid). Wheat, cereals and dairy products largely constitute the dietary intake for average Pakistani households (Malik et al., 2014). However, the dietary diversity in terms of food intake is quite limited for the average Pakistani. Cultural food preferences and static patterns of food consumption reflect that 35% Pakistanis do not consume a balanced ratio of all seven food groups (Usmani, 2016).

In Pakistan, 68% of households are unable to afford a nutritious diet. The cost of nutritious diet also varies provincially. In Punjab, cost of nutritious diet per person per month was PKR 2,061 as compared to PKR 2,415 in Balochistan (WFP 2017). This reflects linkages between food access and food utilization. The provincial differences in micronutrients exist due to regional dietary inclinations and nutritious foods (GoP 2017).

Health of children is a key supporter of economic development and quality of life. Better child health influences adult health, educational attainment, income and productivity of varied occupations (Afzal 2012 and Khan et al. 2015). Malnutrition is a common health issue in children under the age of 5 years. It has led to increase in stunting and wasting in children. Almost 44% children have stunted growth, more than 15% are wasted and 31.5% are underweight. All three issues of stunting, wasting and underweight are comparatively higher in rural than urban areas throughout Pakistan (Ibid). There are higher

³Core inflation rate is an inflation rate that excludes transitory volatility in prices.

chances of stunting and wasting in children of households living as independent, nuclear units. Education of mothers and health knowledge plays a vital role in reducing chances of stunting (Afzal 2012 and Khan et al. 2015). In addition to malnutrition, deficiencies in essential nutrients are also a grave concern, especially in children. NNS (2011) depicts that 61.9% children face iron deficiency, 54% experience vitamin A deficiency, 40% have vitamin D deficiency and 39.2% have zinc deficiency in Pakistan.

1.4 Stability of Food

The final component of food security is food stability. It refers to individuals or households having access to food supply without having any risk about losing food access. The risks to food supply occur because of sudden shocks (economic or climatic) or cyclical events, irregularity of incomes and the volatility of food prices. Food stability can be achieved by enhancing markets access and changing contributions from trade (FAO 2016).

In case of Pakistan, climatic risk has been increasing. The Ministry of Climate Change (MoCC) (2013) report forecasts reduction of rainfall in central Punjab. Similarly, Salik et al., (2016) also forecasts reduction in rainfall in northern region of Punjab, thus predicting a significant rise in temperatures with the passage of time in Pakistan (ADB 2017 and Haensler 2013). These climatic risks are accompanied with increased salinity, water scarcity and decreasing ground water levels, which ultimately disrupts

farmers' income and reduces their capacity to pay

back loans. Government of Pakistan launched a scheme of Crop Loan Insurance Scheme (CLIS) in 2008 with the aim of providing subsidized insurance to subsistence farmers (up to 12.5 acres). This policy is subject to loan borrowers only for coping with natural disasters in case of calamity. While this policy has benefitted farmers, inefficiencies such as the late declaration of calamity by the government, delayed assessment of field loss, slow disbursement of insurance claims, meager amount of insurance claims and political influence in selection of calamity declaration of villages (Siyal, 2018) have impacted its effectiveness. Farmers are willing to participate in crop insurance schemes for which there is need for an independent crop insurance policy that can ensure food stability in regions facing natural disasters (Ali, 2013, Umar 2017). Similarly another study, Ghazanfar et al., 2015a, concluded that farmers from Punjab (D. G Khan, Rajanpur and Bahawalpur) were willing to participate in crop insurance. However negative perceptions of higher premium led to avoidance of crop insurance (Ibid). Along with the premium, dissatisfaction with crop loan insurance schemes, harboring beliefs about its non-Islamic views, lack of knowledge about crop insurance and slower processing were other factors determined to be barriers for avoidance of crop insurance (Ghazanfar et al., 2015, b). In order to enhance the trend of crop insurance in Punjab, education and previous experience of credit borrowers is essential (Ibid). It must be incorporated into any new such schemes.

3. CLIMATE CHANGE VULNERABILITY IN PUNJAB

IPCC AR5 (2014) defines climate change as 'a state of the climate that can be identified (e.g., by using statistical tests) by changes in the mean and/or the variability of its properties and that persists for an extended period, typically decades or longer.' The definition further recognizes the role of natural variability as well as human activity in bringing about a long term change in climate. In terms of climate vulnerability, there exists a huge reserve of literature that highlights climate impacts on physical and human resources, both directly (losses through extreme events like floods, loss of lives etc.) and indirectly (financial losses incurred as a result of decline in productivity etc.) (Ibid).

Various parts of the country are recurrently affected by climate catastrophes including floods and droughts, which not only impact social structure of the country but also have huge economic implications (ADB 2017). Apart from climate extremes, Pakistan is also incurring huge economic losses due to gradual changes in temperature and rainfall variability (Ibid).

Punjab is the second most urbanized and the most populous province of the country. It has a mix of irrigated, semi-arid and arid regions, with a variable climate ranging from extremely hot temperature in summers to mildly cold temperature in winters. Monsoon rains serve as a major source of water to the province, along with five rivers, including Indus, Jhelum, Chenab, Ravi and Sutlej. Punjab, being an agro-based region, is highly vulnerable to climate change, which has huge implications for agricultural production (Siddique et. al 2009 and Hanif et. al 2010). This region has seen changing patterns of monsoon rains, episodes of flooding and droughts, and temperature increase during the last few decades. Major observed trends and future projections related to temperature, precipitation, floods, and droughts are discussed in the sections below.

3.1. Temperature and Rainfall Trends in Punjab

In line with IPCC (2014) temperature projections for global and South Asian region, Pakistan specific studies highlight an increase in temperature for Pakistan over the next few decades. An increase of 0.6°C in average annual temperature has been observed for Pakistan during the last 100 years (Sheikh et. al, 2009). Concurring to this, ADB (2017) also reported an increase of 0.57° in the average annual temperature for Pakistan during the last century. In case of Punjab, we can see that most of the districts already fall under areas with high change in mean annual temperature (Figure 8).





Source: WFP 2017

3.1.1. Past temperature trends

Most of the studies reviewed hinted towards an increasing trend in temperature for Punjab. Chaudhry et. al (2009) found an increase of 0.97°C in winter mean temperature during 1960 to 2007 for the Punjab region. Abbas (2013) carried out a historical analysis (1981–2010) of the daily minimum and maximum temperatures for five semi-arid cities in Punjab. The analysis highlights a significant increasing trend of extreme hot nights and days; number of summer days; and number of tropical nights, whereas the frequency of extremely cold days and nights was found to be decreasing over the period under consideration.

Past trends in maximum and minimum temperatures for nine districts of Punjab were assessed by Khattak and Ali (2015). Using the temperature data from 1961 to 2014, they found an increasing trend in maximum temperature for two districts of Punjab (Rawalpindi and Faisalabad), whereas an increasing trend in minimum temperature on annual basis was found for the rest of the districts. Cheema et. al (2015) also found a significant increase in temperature on annual basis for the Punjab region.

A detailed assessment of past trends of different climate indicators in Punjab region was carried out by Ahmad and Mahmood (2017). The authors find that there is an overall decreasing trend of cold spell duration and number of frost days in Punjab. Moreover, using the data of last 54 years, they found an increasing trend in number of warm nights and monthly minimum value of daily minimum temperature. On the contrary, Jahangir et. al (2016) found that there was no significant trend in annual minimum temperature for five tehsils of Punjab under study.

A comparison of these studies shows that there are variations in temperature change between different districts in Punjab. All researchers studied different indicators of temperature, resulting in some of the indicators not matching the overall trend of the changing temperature.

3.1.2. Future projections

In terms of future projections of temperature, Chaudhry et. al (2009) projected the temperature for the period 2011 to 2015 and found a positive trend in temperature for Pakistan, with maximum rise expected in central and southern Punjab. Similar results for southern Punjab were found by projections carried out by the Ministry of Climate Change (2013). In addition to this, the study finds a maximum increase of 4.5°C in summer temperature and 2°C rise in winter temperature for the Punjab region by the end of this century.

ADB (2017) also highlights the modeling results of a study by Global Change Impact Study Center (GCISC), which used the General Circulation Model for future climate change projections. The model predicts that the temperature in Pakistan will increase up to 4.38°C by 2080. Haensler (2013) also projects rise in temperature of up to 3.8°C in Pakistan by the end of this century. Moreover, a study conducted by Salik et. al (2015) projects rise in surface temperature for most areas in Punjab region using RCP 4.5 and RCP 8.5 scenarios (Figure 7). These projections correspond to the period 2030-2059 (a & c) and 2070- 2099 (b & d).

Figure 7: Temperature Projections for Pakistan based on CMIP5 Model



Source: Salik et.al (2015) *The upper panels exhibit results of RCP4.5 scenarios whereas the lower panels show results of RCP 8.5 scenario.

3.2. Precipitation Trends in Punjab

Precipitation is one of the major indicators of climate change which has huge implications for agricultural production, especially for a country like Pakistan where most of the agriculture production is dependent on rain water. Figure 8 below shows varying rainfall pattern for different regions in Punjab.



Figure 8: Average Annual Rainfall (1982-2016)

Source: WFP 2017

3.2.1. Past trends

Multiple reports have used varying indicators for their respective studies hence the outcomes are different. A report by GCISC (2005) shows an increasing trend in annual mean precipitation for all regions of Pakistan, except for coastal areas. On the contrary, analysis by Chaudhry et al., (2009) shows that there is a decreasing trend of rainfall from 1901 to 1953, whereas the period from 1955 to 2007 exhibits an increasing trend in the annual average rainfall. In terms of seasonal rainfall, the same study highlights inter-decadal variations in rainfall. The period after 1970 shows a sharp decline in monsoon over Punjab region.

Zahid and Rasul (2011) used precipitation data from 1965 to 2009 to assess the changes in precipitation at the country level. They found an increasing trend of extreme precipitation events in southern Punjab at \geq 100mm. On similar lines, Khattak and Ali (2015) found that summer, autumn and annual rainfall has increased in the Punjab region during 1961-2014 period. A significantly increasing trend in number of days with heavy precipitation was found by Ahmad and Mahmood (2017).

3.2.2. Future projections

A decrease in precipitation by 5-30% in central Punjab region was found using the ECHAM5⁴ model by MoCC (2013). Results using the FVGCM⁵ model also show a decrease of 5-20% in precipitation for southern Punjab. Salik et. al (2015), however, find that northern Punjab may face significant shortage of rainfall during the next few decades (Figure 11).

⁴European Centre Hamburg Model- atmospheric general circulation model developed at the Max Planck Institute for Meteorology). ⁵Finite Volume General Circulation Model. 3



Figure 9: Precipitation Projections for Pakistan based on CMIP5 Model

Source: Salik et.al (2015)

*The upper panels exhibit results of RCP4.5 scenarios whereas the lower panels show results of RCP 8.5 scenario.

These studies show that there high variations in precipitation patterns are observed for overall Pakistan and the Punjab region. The change in precipitation pattern depends on the indicator under study. For example, monthly precipitation may show a slight increasing pattern but annual average precipitation for a particular region may show no major changes.

3.3. Agro Ecological Zones and Vulnerabilities

Most of the area in Punjab is plain and has arid and semi-arid characteristics. The southern part of the province predominantly receives less rain fall and is classified as an arid region. The rest of the plain areas are considered semi-arid and irrigated through the five-river system (Abbas et al., 2014). This water network is the major reason for Punjab's significant contribution to agriculture production in the country (Qureshi and Haq 2006). Pakistan Agriculture Research Council (PARC) has divided Punjab into four regions based on the water availability for agriculture. Climate change impacts these regions differently based on their characteristics. Riverine areas (most of the semiarid) are vulnerable to floods, whereas arid region is vulnerable to drought (Abbas et al. 2014).

According Punjab Climate Change Policy (PCCP 2017), lower part of Zone A and marginal lands near Indian border of Zone D are most vulnerable to droughts (Figure 10). Whereas, some parts of Zone A and western part of Zone C and D are most vulnerable to hill torrents and downstream flash floods. The eastern part of Zone A is more likely to face urban flooding.





Source: Pakistan Agriculture Research Council (agriculture maps of Pakistan)

3.4. Extreme Events

High temperatures and low rainfall (drought like situation) affect the productivity of various crops. Further, intensive rainfall increases the probability of floods, which can completely damage crops and lead to food security issues for farmers and for the country (Salma et al., 2012). Due to climate change, extreme and frequent weather events have been occurring on yearly basis in many parts of Punjab.

3.4.1 . Floods

Floods have been considered as an environmental hazard throughout history. Despite advancement in technology and vast experience, human beings are still vulnerable to damages from floods. Pakistan is among the most sensitive countries to climate change threats, and has become more vulnerable to climate extreme events (floods and droughts), due to global warming (Chaudhry 2017). In Pakistan, floods mostly occur due to intense rainfall coupled with increasing snowmelt as a result of climate change. The country has recently experienced six major floods from 2010 to 2015 (Table 2), which resulted in severe damage to lives (both humans and animals), livelihoods, assets and infrastructure. Inadequate capacities of institutions to deal with flood management exacerbate these damages (Ibid). According to the Federal Flood Commission report 2016, a total loss of USD 38.171 billion has occurred due to past 24 flood events. Along with this financial damage, around 12,330 people have lost their lives and 197,275 villages were damaged due to mega floods (Ibid). Floods occur during July – October and directly affect the standing kharif crops (sugarcane, rice, cotton, maize etc.) cultivated along the river banks. Rabi crops are also affected by floods in inundated lands because of their slow dry up requirement. The flood of 2010 is considered one of the mega disasters in the history of Pakistan; it affected over 20 million people in the country (GoP 2016). Only in Punjab, more than 5 million people were affected and more than 1.9 million acres of crops were damaged due to the 2010 flood.

Table 2	: Loss	and	Damage	due	to	Floods
---------	--------	-----	--------	-----	----	--------

Year	Crops affected (acres)	Persons Died	Persons affected
2010	1,914,104	258	5,038,992
2011	125,513	4	26,393
2012	473,998	60	887,345
2013	745,655	109	184,147

Source: PDMA Punjab flood reports

3.4.2. Droughts

When a region receives below average rainfall for a long period of time it becomes more likely to face a drought. Droughts can damage agriculture and ecosystems within the affected region and ultimately result in economic losses. Pakistan has recently faced a series of droughts in the last decade. One of the worst drought spells occurred from 1998 to 2002, followed by a moderate spell of drought from 2004 to 2005 and then a weak drought spell from 2009 to 2010. These droughts affected the population of Balochistan, Sindh and some parts of southern Punjab (PMD 2016). The farming communities in these areas were severely affected as their crops were damaged and livestock perished due to extreme heat and degradation of pasture (Ibid.).

During summers, Punjab faces high temperature and low rainfall that can lead to a drought like situation in the region. Southern Punjab shows a higher vulnerability to prevailing drought conditions. Droughts can have serious impacts on livelihoods of these areas as majority of the population is dependent on agriculture (Salma et al,. 2012). Furthermore, the situation could be worsening as the incidents of drought in Asian region are expected to increase (IPCC 2014).

According to IPCC (AR5) 2014 report, the frequency and magnitude of the heat waves is expected to increase in Asia. Pakistan has already begun to see an increasing trend in terms of heat wave events over the past decade. Over 1,000 people died due to heat stress in June 2015 in Sindh. The Integrated Context Analysis report (2017) has classified three levels of drought hazards and district vulnerabilities based on the data from 1951 and 2010 (GoP 2017), as shown in Figure 11.



Figure 11: Drought Prone Districts of Pakistan

Source: (GoP 2017)

With the frequent occurrence of high or medium level natural hazards, 44 districts are highly at risk to food insecurity in Pakistan in terms recurrence vulnerability. At provincial level, Punjab is least vulnerable as compared to other provinces. Of the district most impacted, 19 are in Balochistan, 13 in Sindh, 7 in Khyber Pakhtunkhwa (KP) and 3 in Punjab (GoP, 2017). This is depicted in Figure 12.

Figure 12: Pakistan Recurrence of Vulnerability to Food Insecurity Map



Source: (GoP 2017)

4. CLIMATE CHANGE AND FOOD SECURITY INTER-LINKAGES

4.1 Impacts of Climate Change on Food Security

The climatic changes and frequent disasters have cumulative impact on food security situation in Pakistan. The climatic changes influence food security aspects, namely, availability, access, utilization and stability. Similarly, intensity of climatic shocks defines the level of impact on food security conditions (IPCC, 2012).

The rising threats ranging from droughts to floods have raised an alarming call for water conservations and risk management strategies to save agriculture and protect public health (Ahmed et al. 2016). Numerous studies have confirmed rising trends of temperature and their negative impacts registered from extreme hot nights and days, number of summer days, number of tropical nights and rising minimum temperature in Punjab province (Abbas, 2013, Khattak and Ali, 2015, Cheema et al., 2015, Ahmad and Mahmood, 2017). Along with temperature, variation in precipitation due to climate change is also having its impacts. In some regions, there is increasing trend of precipitation in Punjab (Khattak and Ali, 2015, Ahmad and Mahmood, 2017) but in central and northern parts of Punjab studies found decreasing trends of precipitation (MoCC 2013, Salik et al., 2015).

Recently, Climate Change Policy of Punjab (2017) elaborates climatic changes by specifying regional changes. The lower part of Zones A (Rajanpur, Rahimyar Khan, Bawalnagar, Lahore, Sheikhupura, Gujranwala and Kasur) is facing droughts, while, eastern part of the same zone faces urban flooding. The western part of Zone C and D (Layyah, Bakkhar, Mianwali, Khushab, Dera Ghazi Khan, Bahawalpur, and Rahimyar Khan) suffers from hill torrents and downstream flash floods. Finally, Zone B (Rawalpindi, Attock and Chakwal) relies on heavy monsoon from Bay of Bengal which gets deflected from Himalayan Range (PCCP, 2017).

Climate change will impact all facets of food security in the Punjab, including availability,

access, utilization and stability. These are discussed below.

(1) Availability

The links of frequent disasters and climatic changes are connected with aspects of food security. The agriculture productivity has been affected by climate induced changes that have led to decreased yields, rising water demand and market access and prices throughout the world (FAO 2016). In case of Pakistan, food availability conditions are affected by rising trends of heat and water-stressed conditions in semi-arid and arid regions (GoP 2013). Along with that, climatic changes, like temperature rise, increasing number of hot days and nights and low rainfall negatively influence crop productivity. Similarly, intense rainfall increases chances of floods that damage crops, leading to food security issues for farmers. These changes have aggravated production of major kharif and rabi crops, namely, rice and wheat (Salma et al., 2012), (ADB, 2017), (GoP, 2016).

Droughts pose another threat to food security. More recent droughts include a major episode from 1998 to 2002, followed by 2004 to 2005 and 2009 to 2010. The southern part of Punjab was particularly impacted by these droughts, which were responsible for crop losses, deaths of livestock due to excessive heat and degradation of pastures (PMD, 2016). Numerous spatial studies confirm trends of climatic changes and predict severe conditions in future due to irregular increase of precipitation and temperature followed by heat waves. These changes will affect productivity of agriculture and reduce crop cycle (Nasim et al., 2016, Amin et al. 2018 and Saeed and Suleri, 2015). These studies used climatic models, namely, SimClim⁶, 40 General Circulation Models (GCMs)⁷ and Regional Climate Projections (RCPs). Apart from spatial climatic models, Raza and Ahmad (2015) and Siddigui et al (2012) also validate influence of climatic changes on crops namely, wheat, rice, sugarcane and cotton. These studies used Fixed Effect Models (FEM) and Rahator Effect (Add a (Ref M) (REM) for

⁶SimCLIM software can be used to study the impacts and adaptation strategies to climate change and climatic extremities, ⁷Global circulation model (GCM) predict about frequency and severity of these changes in future. Regional Climate Projections (RCP) analyze the future climate change scenario with the associated uncertainty range.

analyzing climatic changes and suggested for improving awareness of climatic changes and appropriate use of inputs.

One of the interventions from Government of Punjab under Southern Punjab Poverty Alleviation Project – Additional Financing (SPPAP-AF, 2016-2021), in coordination with IFAD, was to support vulnerable rural families. This programme targets ten districts - Bahawalpur, Bahawalnagar, Rahimyar Khan, Muzzaffargarh, Rajanpur, Dera Ghazi Khan, Layyah, Bhakkar, Khushab and Mianwali. This program aims to provide small housing units to landless/homeless women, livestock packages, food banks, community revolving funds, initiating vocational and entrepreneurial trainings to enhance income generation, educational awareness of food and nutritional security and enhancing community development through strengthening of community organizations, including village organizations (VOs), and local support organization (LSOs) (IFAD 2017). This program has supported farmers in rural areas of Southern Punjab to cope with food insecurity from climatic disasters.

(2) Access

The component of food access depends on economic affordability of food. It gets weakened by lower employment opportunities, higher inflation and existing multidimensional poverty (Pakistan Bureau of Statistics, 2016, MPI report, 2016, IRIN, 2012⁸). These facets further impact the demands of rising population which has reached 207.7 million (Rana, 2017). Along with population, oil and food price shocks shrink consumption power and increase poverty level (GoP, 2017, Chaudhry and Chaudhry, 2008). In particular, increasing food prices impact rural population more severely than urban residents. The increase of food prices by 20% can increase poverty head count level by 8% in rural areas (Chaudhry and Chaudhry, 2008). The food items comprise approximately 46% of urban household expenditure and 58% of expenditure of rural household expenditure (Malik et al., 2014). There is lack of dietary diversity as few food items, namely, wheat, cereals and dairy products are major part of household food consumption (Usmani, 2016). The calorie intake of households has increased by meager amounts since past many decades (Malik et al., 2014). The economic affordability of people can be enhanced by social protection programs, like Benazir Income Support Program (BISP). Such social protection programs can not only improve economic and social value but also increase political stability and restrain crime. The BISP program, launched in 2008, provides cash transfers that reduce short term stress and insecurities which inhibit poverty alleviation in the long run. The cash transfers in the said program have helped its beneficiaries (Nayyab and Farooq, 2014). Under this program, more than 5 million beneficiaries in Punjab receive unconditional cash transfers (UCT) to cope with rising food, fuel and financial crises. These cash transfers were increased from Rs. 1000 to Rs.1566 per month in July 2015. The annual budget for BISP program was raised from Rs. 16 billion to 96.56 billion in 2015/16 (GoP, 2017). According to Cluster report of BISP, it has covered more than 4.9 million households in Central Punjab and 4.5 million households in Southern Punjab. Out of 4.5 million of Southern Punjab, this program has covered 396,635 households in D.G Khan and 784,855 households in Muzzafargarh (GoP, 2017).

(3) Utilization

The food utilization component of food security plays a vital role as it is linked with nutritional wellbeing. It deals with nutritious diet, clean water, sanitation and health care (FAO 2016 and Arif 2007). However, in Pakistan, affording nutritious diet is a major problem as 68% of households cannot afford a nutritional diet and almost 18 to 22 percent of children go to sleep hungry every night (WFP 2017, GoP 2017). Women along with children are facing higher vulnerability in terms of food utilization as compared to men. The issues of stunting, wasting and underweight are common in children while, issues of obesity are common in women. Similarly, micro-nutrition deficiencies are also faced by children; almost 62% of children are facing iron deficiencies, 54% face vitamin A deficiency, 40% have vitamin D deficiency and 39.25% have zinc deficiency (NNS, 2011)., These micronutrient issues in children are higher in rural areas as compared to urban areas. Overall, 44% of children are facing stunting, wasting and underweight issues (GoP 2017). In Punjab, cost of nutritious diet is lower than other provinces. It can be one reason behind micronutrient deficiencies being lower in Punjab than other provinces (GoP, 2017).

⁸http://www.irinnews.org/report/96849/pakistan-inflation-hits-food-security

The BISP program provides cash transfers, which are found to increase food consumption, especially the amount of proteins. The proteins ultimately enhance quality of food intake (GoP, 2017). Similarly, International Fund for Agriculture Development (IFAD) reports establishing food banks that can help in reduction of seasonal food shortages and cash borrowing (IFAD, 2016). There is a need for increased coordination and integration of Benazir Income Support Programme (BISP) initiative with other IFAD programmes that can help identify and enhance resilience of marginalized and ultra-poor people⁹ in Pakistan. Along with that, in order to build resilience for sustainable nutrition and food security under zero-hunger programme, GoP,¹⁰ FAO and WFP must continue to plan and implement numerous interventions (Ibid).

(4) Stability

The final component of food security is food stability. It is more linked with unpredictable climatic conditions which can cause changes in seasonality, productivity fluctuations and higher chances of risks to supply (FAO 2016). The existing threats from frequent climatic disasters, slow onset climatic changes, insufficient storage facilities for water have increased vulnerability of people in hot spot areas (Usmani 2016). In Pakistan, almost 42 districts are highly vulnerable to recurrent floods and nine of those are located in Punjab (GoP, 2017). Historically, Pakistan has faced more than a hundred natural disasters, which have cost the economy billions of dollars (FFC, 2016). Similarly, droughts have significantly influenced cropping productivity and livelihood opportunities in many regions (Salma et al., 2012). The southern part of Punjab is more vulnerable to drought than other areas of Punjab. According to ICA report (2017), ten districts of Punjab are ranked as highly vulnerable to droughts, majority of remaining were facing medium vulnerability and few of them had low vulnerability against droughts. In addition, environmental degradation poses serious threats to food security conditions. The rising dependence on irrigation water and supply of saline ground water further aggravates quality of land which reduces agriculture productivity. These issues undermine

sustainability of agriculture productivity throughout the country, and especially in Punjab (Muhammad, 2010). These climatic conditions have affected food security conditions, particularly food stability in Punjab, the highest contributor to agriculture output in Pakistan. The future projections of climate models note above average rising temperature in Pakistan and predict severe conditions for agriculture, which needs timely policies to address food security and to reduce risks to agriculture livelihoods.

Crop insurance is one of the solutions for minimizing food insecurity risk. The major determinants for willingness of farmers to buy into index-based insurance are farmer's economic status, household assets and membership of community organizations. A subsidized insurance policy can reduce risks and ensure food security (Ali, 2013).

Globally, another strategy used for enhancing food security is implementation of climate smart villages (CSVs). Such villages engage researchers, local partners and farmers for formulating climate smart agriculture interventions. These interventions can not only increase farmers' income but also enhance resilience against climatic risks. It will ensure agriculture productivity that will influence food security. The CSVs comprise of climate smart technologies, climate information services, local knowledge and institutions and village development plans (CGIAR, 2013). Similarly, government of Punjab plans to distribute smart phones among small farmers (land size less than 12.5 acres) under Kissan package. This intervention will update farmers about weather updates, agriculture department's plans and policies (Pakistan Today, 2016). These updates will be based on an app developed in collaboration with Telenor and Punjab Information Technology Board (PITB). Additionally, farmers can use this app for application of loans that will reduce *patwari*¹¹ and bank agent culture (The Nation, 2018). However, majority of farmers' in Punjab are not using climate smart agriculture interventions. For example, less than 30 percent of farmers are using drought tolerant varieties, organic fertilizers, heat

⁹Ultra poor are defined as households lying in range of 0 to 16 in poverty score card, poor (12 to 18) and transitory poor (19 to 23) (IFAD, 2016). ¹⁰Zero Hunger Program comprises of key interventions that will include: women's management of community food banks linked to provincial disaster management agencies (1,500 poor/vulnerable communities); promotion of climate-smart agriculture and production systems (with FAO and the Consultative Group on International Agricultural Research [CGIAR]); and investments in and promotion of innovative irrigation and water-harvesting systems in collaboration with other donors, research institutes and universities. ¹¹Patwari' means a local administrator of land administration system (Ali and Nasir, 2010)

tolerant varieties, early maturing varieties, crop rotation and integrated pest management (World Bank, 2017). Therefore, there is need for mainstreaming CSVs to support stable food production in Punjab.

4.2 Climate Change Models Predictions

The spatial climatic models help in analyzing weather pattern changes over a period of time. The Global Circulation Model (GCM20) and Regional Climate Model (RCM) analyze regions of Hindukush, Himalaya and Karakoram (Ahmad et al., 2014). The regions with higher terrain are expected to have increase of temperature from 1oC to 1.5oC as per GCM20 and 1.5oC to 2oC as per Providing Regional Climates for Impact Studies (PRECIS) model. Similarly, precipitation in northern regions will also be increased from 0.5mm/day to 1mm/day as per climate models GCM20 and PRECIS.





Source: Ahmad et al., 2014

The weather data analysis of time period from 1980 to 2011 shows higher risk of climatic uncertainties with respect to agriculture of southern region of Punjab. This study used another climate model, namely, SimCLIM¹² which was used for model projection with 40GCM for climate projections. In future, irregular increase of precipitation and temperature will enhance risk with respect to managing climate change and appropriate projections will enhance the risk management decisions (Amin et al., 2018).

Another study, Saeed and Suleri (2015), analyzed conditions of heat waves by three Regional Climate Models (RCMs) in Pakistan. The heat wave projections of 2026-2050 show significant increase in number of heat waves in hyper-arid and arid regions of Pakistan.



Figure 14: Heat Waves Forecasts



Apart from temporal scale based studies, district level disaggregated data was used to analyze impact of climate change on cotton production provincially. The model follows panel data methodology of Fixed Effect Model (FEM) and Random Effects Model (REM) for provinces of Sindh and Punjab. Punjab province is comparatively less prone to climate change and rising temperature, as compared to cotton growers of Sindh. The adverse impact of climate change can be minimized by enhancing awareness of climate change and appropriate fertilizer usage (Raza and Ahmad, 2015). Another study observed impacts of climate change on four major crops, namely, wheat, rice, sugarcane and cotton. This study considered district wise crop productivity and climate change variables and conducted analysis of Fixed Effect Model (FEM) with multiple stages of temperature and precipitation indicators. Rise of temperature can aggravate conditions for wheat in short run. On the contrary, rice crop can benefit from slight increase of temperature, but above an optimal threshold, it becomes harmful. Similarly,

sugarcane can be negatively influenced by rising temperature in long run. For cotton crop, changes in temperature or precipitation can be harmful for its productivity. Precipitation changes can also harm wheat and cotton but does not harm rice productivity (Siddiqui et al., 2012).

Climate models, such as GCM, RCM, SimCLIM confirmed evidences of climate change in different regions of Pakistan. Some studies have connected climate change impacts to crop productivity in Punjab. In general, the studies highlighted the negative influence of climate change on major crops and grains, with rising temperature and precipitation variation largely responsible.

4.3.1 Section on Micro-evidence of Climate Change and Food Security

Study Sites and Methods

In this study, food security conditions and challenges from climate change are observed for the Punjab province. Along with desk review, this

¹²SimCLIM can be used to study the impacts and adaptation strategies to climate change and climatic extremities (Warrick et al. 2012)

study analyses relationship of food security and climate change with land ownership (size of land). The aspect of land size segregates analysis to a deeper level. There are four categories of farmers: marginal farmers (less than 5 acre), small farmers (5 – 12.5 acre), medium farmers (12.5 acres to 25 acres) and large farmers (above 25 Acres) (Rashid and Sheikh 2015).

This study comprises of micro-evidences from two research projects conducted by SDPI that collected data from three districts of Punjab: Faisalabad, Dera Ghazi Khan and Muzzafargarh. Both research projects were based on an extensive, structured questionnaire survey of selected districts. The data of Faisalabad and Dera Ghazi Khan is based on Pathways to Resilience in Semi-arid Regions of Pakistan (PRISE), a project funded by Department for International Development (DfiD) and International Development Research Centre (IDRC). In this survey, the sample size of selected farmers was 200 from each district, conducted using multi-stage stratified random sampling. Particularly for this study, relationship between land size and food security situation is analysed along with coping strategies. Data for Muzzaffargarh was obtained from project survey of Rural Resilience Initiative, which looked at reducing and transferring agricultural risks to insurance schemes in case of disasters. In this survey, total sample size of households was 167 farmers from five villages within three union councils of Muzzaffargarh. The data collected was analysed using Exploratory Data Analysis (EDA), to identify and assess the socioeconomic determinants of risk perceptions and risk management strategies and their access. The selected districts of this study are given in Figure 15.



Figure 15: Study Sites

4.3.2 Results

Faisalabad

In Faisalabad, during past 60 years, climatic changes are evident through changes in temperature and rainfall. The rise in temperature during winter season and increasing temperature during summer season are signs of such changes (Cheema et al., 2006). The factors of water availability at suitable intervals of time, air and soil temperature, and rainfall helped higher productivity of crops. However, climatic changes resulting in heavy precipitation during flowering time of *kharif* season can lead to lower productivity (Imran and Ayaz, 2015).

The results of this study show that higher proportions of medium and large farmers considered in the study saw significant crop loss. Particularly, medium and large farmers faced floods, leading to crop destruction. Such farmers considered drought conditions, pest attacks (35%)

Source: Author's estimation

and rain/hail storm (3.82%) as the major causes of crop loss. Similarly, small farmers (45%)

considered pest attacks as major reason for their crop loss.



Figure 16: Food Security Situation and Reasons of Crop Loss in Faisalabad

Due to such climatic shocks and resulting crop loss, the majority of every category of farmer agreed that food shortages and lack of funds to purchase food items lead to their food insecurity. As such, marginal farmers have considered diversification of income as their major coping





strategy against food insecurity and small farmers considered migration of family members as their main coping strategy. A small proportion of medium (28.8%) and large farmers (9.3%) adopted migration of their household member (Figure 17).



Source: Author's findings

D.G Khan

In D.G Khan, impacts of climate change and disasters negatively affected crop productivity (Rasheed and Khan 2015; Amer et al., 2009). These climatic changes include floods, extended monsoon, pest attacks, shifts of summer and winter seasons, and inadequate drainage system leading to higher level of water logging and salinity. The results of this study found that in D.G Khan, higher proportion of large, medium and marginal farmers considered drought and flood as a major reason for their crop losses, while, small

Source: Author's calculation

farmers considered pest attack and rain/hailstorm as major reason for their crop losses followed by other reasons. Due to these climatic changes and disasters, majority of farmers faced food shortage or lack money to purchase food. The major coping strategy used by marginal farmers was external help and small farmers used reduction of household consumption, followed by other strategies. However, such food insecurity issues did not prevail for majority of medium and large farmers. The lesser proportion of those faced food insecurity and considered modifying food production to increase output.

Reasons of Crop Loss in

D.G Khan

Small

farmers

Rain/hailstrom Pest attack Flood Drought

reducing consumption as major coping measures.

Similarly, medium farmers considered migration of household members, followed by modification

of production and selling assets majorly. Lastly,

large farmers modification of production as their

major coping measure followed by migration of

Medium

farmers

Large

farmers



Figure 18: Food Security Situation and Reasons of Crop Loss in D.G Khan

60% 50% 40%

30% 20%

10%

00%

Marginal

farmers

household members.

In order to deal with food security issues (Figure 19), marginal farmers majorly considered relying on external help (borrowing credit) followed by reducing consumption, reducing other expenditures and diversifying activities in order to increase alternative incomes. The higher proportion of small farmers considered reduction of other expenditures, the sale of assets and



Figure 19: D.G Khan Coping Measures

Source: Author's Findings

Source: Author's findings

Muzzaffargarh

The climatic risks were faced by all farm holders (marginal, small, medium and large) in Muzzaffargarh. The marginal and small farmers majorly reported drought followed by floods, shortage of canal water, windstorms and untimely rain as the main climate risks for crop loss. Medium and large farm holders considered major risks from windstorms followed by flood, untimely rain events and shortage of canal water.

Only small and marginal farmers were facing food deficient conditions due to financial constraints. Higher proportions of medium and large farmers had food sufficient for few months. In order to deal with food security conditions, Figure 20 shows that the major proportion of marginal farmers (55.7%) relied on less preferred and less expensive food and reduced portion of size of meals, followed by reduction in number of meals eaten per day and quantity of food by adults monthly. The small farmers (51.7%) borrowed food or relied on help from friends or relatives as well as reducing the number of meals eaten per day, followed by other coping strategies. The majority of medium farm holders (60%) also borrowed food or relied on help from friends or relatives. Finally, large farmers majorly reduced consumption as their coping strategy.



Figure 20: Muzzaffargarh Coping Strategies

The impact of climatic change on crop production of Punjab is undeniable (Siddiqui et al., 2012). Along with the results of this study, increasing climatic risks and climate-induced disasters were the major reason for crop loss for every farmer irrespective of their land size or district. The crop losses are the result of increasing and volatile floods and droughts, followed by pest attack, hail and windstorms. The farming community especially the marginal and small farmers, face severe food insecurity due to either lack of food availability or lack of funds. In order to cope with food security issues, farmers relied on diversification of income, migration of a household member, modification of food production to increase output, sale of household assets, reliance on external help and purchased less preferred or cheaper food items or reduced consumption of non-food and food items.

5. CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS

The phenomenon of climate change has increased risks for human and animals relying on natural resources, mountains, lands, plateaus, forests, coastal zones, seas and oceans. The impacts of climate change are felt through rising temperatures, lower rainfalls which are triggering desertification and heat stress conditions in semiarid regions and escalating drought years in arid regions. The outcomes of such changes are linked with reduction of crop output and quality, increased number of deaths of livestock and people. Pakistan is ranked among top ten countries that face climatic risks and appears at quite low position in hunger and food security indices. It shows poor condition of Pakistan in every component of food security, namely, availability, access, utilization and stability.

Provincially, Punjab being the highest contributor of agricultural products, staple and cash crop, faces severe climatic conditions as per past trends of climatic variables. The Global and Regional Climatic Models' future forecast of climatic change shows a rise in temperature and reduction in precipitation in the region of Punjab which will disrupt agriculture productivity in the region. It will lead to an adverse effect on each food security component of availability, access, utilisation and stabilization. In order to mitigate the impact of climatic changes on food security, this study investigated farming communities with respect to land size. The results of micro-evidences analysed food security situation for marginal (less than 5 Acres), small farmers (between 5 to 12.5 acres), medium farmers (greater than 12.5 acres but less than 25 Acres) and large farmers (greater than 25 acres) in the districts of D.G Khan. Faisalabad and Muzzaffargarh. The insights from these microevidences are given below,

- Farmers in all three districts, (Muzzaffargarh, D.G Khan and Faisalabad) faced climatic shocks (primarily; floods and droughts) which severely affected their crops followed by pest attack and rain/hailstorm.
- Food security depends on land size of farming community. The food security was a major problem report by all farmers in Faisalabad, Muzzaffargarh and D.G. Khan.

In Faisalabad, marginal and small farmers considered diversification of their income sources, while, small proportion of food insecure medium and large farmers considered migration of one of their family members as their coping strategy. In D.G Khan, the major coping strategy used by marginal farmers was external help (credit borrowing) and small farmers used reduction of household consumption followed by other strategies. While, migration of household members and modification of production were common major coping measures for medium and large farmers. The district of Muzzaffargarh faced similar situations as in D.G Khan. The marginal farmers relied on less expensive food and reduction of food consumption as their adaptation strategy. The small, medium and large farmers had a similar coping strategy which relied on help from friends or reduced number of meals and quantity of food consumption.

In light of the above discussion, we would like to make the following recommendations:

Recommendations

- Introduce crop insurance schemes based on weather based index that protect farmers' income in hotspot regions. *Responsible Authorities:* Joint efforts of Pak Met-Department and ZTBL can modify the process to weather based index in hotspot regions.
- Introduce credit-borrowing schemes for farmers in disaster prone areas on easy terms and conditions to enhance their resilience. *Responsible Authorities:* SBPdepartment of Agriculture credit can help in introducing new schemes through taskforce by involving stakeholders.
- Increase conditional cash transfers to farmers in climatic hotspot regions, especially to marginal and small level farmers. *Responsible Authorities:* Ministry of Planning and Development can facilitate in introducing new scheme of cash transfers for hotspot regions.

- Enhance the capacity of agricultural extension programmes to develop training initiatives for farming communities that cater to the adaptation needs in face of a changing climate. *Responsible Authorities:* Joint efforts of PARC and NARC will help in enhancing capacity of agriculture extension programmes.
- Initiate a national scheme of food bank¹³ to secure food supply of vulnerable communities. *Responsible Authorities:* Ministry of National Food Security and Research need to play active role for initiating such schemes along with Ministry of Climate Change.
- Introduce reforms in vocational trainings centres to introduce trainings courses that can help in capacity building to strengthen food chains and diversify income of households, especially for women. *Responsible Authorities:* Pakistan Vocational Training Centers in collaboration with Ministry of National Food Security and Research and Ministry of Climate Change can help in introducing new training courses.

¹³Food Bank: A place where stocks of food, typically basic provisions and non-perishable items, are supplied free of charge to people in need, mostly by government.

REFERENCES

Abbas, F 2013, Analysis of a Historical (1981–2010) Temperature Record of the Punjab Province of Pakistan. Earth Interact, 17, 1–23.

Abbas, F, Ahmad, A, Safeeq, M, Ali, S, Saleem, F, Hammad, HM and Farhad, W 2014, Changes in precipitation extremes over arid to semiarid and subhumid Punjab, Pakistan, Theoretical and applied climatology, 116, , pp.671-680

Abbasi, SS, Marwat, NK, Naheed, S, Siddiqui, S 2014, "Food security issues and challenges: a case study of potohar". Eur Acad Res, 2, pp.3090-3113.

Afzal, U 2012, The Determinants of Child Health and Nutritional Status in Punjab: An Economic Analysis, Centre for Research in Economics and Business, Lahore School of Economics.

Agri Marketing Information Service,2015, Crop Yield, Agriculture Statistics, Online: http://www.amis.pk/

Ahmad, B, and Mahmood, S 2017, Observed, Simulated and Projected Extreme Climate indices over Pakistan, Anchor Academic Publishing, Hamburg, Germany.

Ahmad, B, Rasul, G, Iqbal, W, and Bukhari, S A 2014, Regional Comparison between Global Circulation Model GCM20 and Regional Climate Model PRECIS, Pakistan Journal of Meteorology, 11(21).

Ahmed, T, Scholz, M, Al-Faraj, F, and Niaz, W2016, Water-related impacts of climate change on agriculture and subsequently on public health: A review for generalists with particular reference to Pakistan, International journal of environmental research and public health, 13(11), 1051.

Ali, A 2013, Farmers' Willingness to Pay for Index Based Crop Insurance in Pakistan: A Case Study on Food and Cash Crops of Rain-fed Areas, Agricultural Economics Research Review, 26(2).

Ali, S, Liu, Y, Ishaq, M, Shah, T, Ilyas, A and Din, IU 2017, Climate Change and Its Impact on the Yield of Major Food Crops: Evidence from Pakistan. Foods, 6(6), p.39

Ali, Z, and Nasir, A 2010, Land Administration System in Pakistan–Current Situation and Stakeholders' perception, Framework, 11, 16.

Amer, M, Aslam, M, Razaq, M and Afzal, M 2009, Lack of Plant Resistance Against Aphids, as Indicated by their Seasonal Abundance in Canola in Southern Punjab, Pakistan, Pak. J.Bot., volume 41, issue 3, pp. 1043-1051.

Amin, A, Nasim, W, Mubeen, M, Sarwar, S, Urich, P, Ahmad, Aand Rehmani, MI A 2018, Regional climate assessment of precipitation and temperature in Southern Punjab (Pakistan) using SimCLIM climate model for different temporal scales, Theoretical and Applied Climatology, 131(1-2), 121-131.

Ardnt, C Tarp, F 2017, Aid, Environment and Climate Change, Review of Development Economics,Volume 21, Issue 2, Pp 285-303.

Arif, M 2007, Agriculture and Food Security in Pakistan, Thematic Paper. South Asia Partnership,

Pakistan, Online Available from:

http://sappk.org/wp-

content/uploads/publications/eng_publications/ Agriculture_and_Food_Security.pdf. Accessed on 5-5-2017.

Arndt C, Tarp, F 2017, Aid, Environment and Climate Change, Review of Development Economics, Online:

http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/rode.12 291/full DOI: 10.1111/rode.12291 Accessed on 25-1-2018

Asian Development Bank. 2017. Climate change profile of Pakistan.

Asian Development Bank2017, Climate Change Profile of Pakistan, Metro Manila, Philippines, online:

https://www.adb.org/sites/default/files/publicatio n/357876/climate-change-profile-pakistan.pdf

Bals, C, Harmeling, S, Windfuhr, M, 2008, Climate Change, Food Security and the Right to Adequate Food German Watch, Online: https://germanwatch.org/en/download/2798.pdf Accessed on 25-1-2018

Bashir, MK, Schilizzi, S and Pandit, R, 2012, Food security and its determinants at the cross roads in Punjab Pakistan (No. 126033).

Bhandari, M.P. 2018. The climate change induced problems in South Asia, a case study of Bangladesh, India, Nepal, and Pakistan. Advances in Agriculture and Environmental Science: Open Access. Retrieved from:

http://ologyjournals.com/aaeoa/aaeoa_00009.pdf

Campbell, B M, Vermeulen, S J, Aggarwal, P K, Corner-Dolloff, C, Girvetz, E, Loboguerrero, A M, and Wollenberg, E 2016, Reducing risks to food security from climate change, Global Food Security, 11, 34-43.

CDKN2014, The IPCC's Fifth Assessment Report | What's in it for South Asia? Retrieved from: https://cdkn.org/wp-

content/uploads/2014/04/CDKN-IPCC-Whats-init-for-South-Asia-AR5.pdf Accessed on 25-1-2018.

CGIAR 2013, Climate Smart Villages; A Community Approach to Sustainable Agriculture Development, CGIAR, Online:

https://cgspace.cgiar.org/bitstream/handle/10568 /33322/CCAFSClimate-SmartVillages2013.pdf

Chaudhry QZ, Mahmood A, Rasul, G and Afzaal M 2009, Climate Change Indicators of Pakistan,

Technical Report, No. 22, Islamabad: Pakistan Meteorological Department.

Chaudhry, A, and Chaudhry, T 2008, The Effects of Rising Food and Fuel Costs in Pakistan.

Chaudhry, KZ 2017, Climate Change Profile of Pakistan, Asian Development Bank.

Cheema, M,A, Farooq, M, Ahmad, R and Munir, H 2006, Climatic Trends in Faisalabad (Pakistan) Over the Last 60 Years (1945-2004), Journal of Agriculture and Social Sciences, pp. 1813-2235.

Cheema, SB, Rasul, G, Ali, G, and Kazmi, DH 2015, A Comparison of Minimum Temperature Trends with Model Projections, Pakistan Journal of Meteorology, Vol. 8, Issue 15.Eckstein, D, Künzel, V, and Schäfer, L, 2018. Global Climate Risk Index, Germanwatch.FAO 2016, Climate change and food security: risks and responses, Online: http://www.fao.org/3/a-i5188e.pdf Accessed on 25-1-2018.

FAO2017, The future of food and agriculture Trends and challenges, Online: http://www.fao.org/3/a-i6583e.pdf Accessed on 25-1-2018Food and Agriculture Organisation (FAO) 2008 An Introduction to the Basic Concepts of Food Security,

Farooq, M 2018, Economic Survey 2017-18: People living below poverty line plunge to 24.3pc. Pakistan Today. Retreived from: https://profit.pakistantoday.com.pk/2018/04/26/p akistans-percentage-of-people-living-belowpoverty-line-falls-to-24-3-percent-economicsurvey-2018/ Accessed on 15 March 2019

Food and Agriculture Organisation (FAO) and

World Food Programme (WFP) 2009, The State of Food Insecurity in the World, FAO and WFP.

Ghazanfar, S, Qi-Wen, Z, Abdullah, M, Ahmad, Z and Lateef, M, 2015 Farmers' Perception and Awareness and Factors Affecting Awareness of Farmers Regarding Crop Insurance as a Risk Coping Mechanism Evidence from Pakistan, Journal of Northeast Agricultural University, issue no 1, volume 22, pp, 76-82.

Ghazanfar, S, Qi-Wen, Z, Abdullah, M, Ahmed J, Khan, I and Ahmed Z 2015, Factors Hindering Pakistani Farmers' choice towards Adoption of Crop Insurance, Journal of Northeast Agricultural University, issue no 2, volume 22, pp, 92-96.

Global Change Impact Studies Centre 2005, Final Technical Report for APN Capable Project. Islamabad.

Gogoi, E. Bahadur, A.V. Rio, C,R. 2017. Mainstreaming adaptation to climate change within governance systems in South Asia: An analytical framework and examples from practice. Action on Climate Today. Retrieved from: https://reliefweb.int/sites/reliefweb.int/files/resour ces/OPM_ACT_LP_Governance_Paper_final.pdf

Gop 2016, Annual Flood Report, Ministry Of Water & Power

Government of Pakistan 2014, Pakistan 2025- One Nation, One Vision, Ministry of Planning, Development and Reforms, Government of Pakistan, Islamabad.

Government of Pakistan 2016, Pakistan Economic Survey 2015-16, Economic Advisor's Wing, Finance Division, Government of Pakistan, Islamabad.

Government of Pakistan GOP 2017, Benazir Income Support Program (BISP) Impact on Vulnerable People's Livelihood: Evidence from Impact Evaluation Report, BISP Policy Brief, online, http://bisp.gov.pk/wpcontent/uploads/2017/02/BISP-Policy-Brief.pdf

Government of Pakistan GOP 2017, Benazir Income Support Program (BISP) Impact on Vulnerable People's Livelihood: Evidence from Impact Evaluation Report, BISP Policy Brief, online, http://bisp.gov.pk/wpcontent/uploads/2017/02/BISP-Policy-Brief.pdf

Government of Pakistan GOP 2017, Benazir Income Support Program (BISP) Nationwide Rollout of National Socioeconomic Registry (NSER) Update, Cluster Report, online, http://bisp.gov.pk/wpcontent/uploads/2017/06/Clusters-for-NSER-National-Roll-Out-Approved.pdf

Government of Pakistan GOP 2017, Benazir Income Support Program (BISP) Nationwide Rollout of National Socioeconomic Registry (NSER) Update, Cluster Report, online, http://bisp.gov.pk/wpcontent/uploads/2017/06/Clusters-for-NSER-National-Roll-Out-Approved.pdf

Government of Pakistan, GoP 2017, Pakistan Economic Survey 2016-17, Economic Advisor's Wing, Finance Division, Government of Pakistan, Islamabad.

Government of Pakistan, GoP2017, Fill the Nutrient Gap Pakistan: Summary Report. Ministry of Planning, Development and Reform, Online: https://reliefweb.int/report/pakistan/fill-nutrientgap-pakistan-summary-report-november-2017

Government of Pakistan, GoP2017, Integrated Context Analysis (ICA) on Vulnerability to Food Insecurity and Natural Hazards, National Disaster Management Authority (NDMA), Pakistan. Online:https://reliefweb.int/report/pakistan/integr ated-context-analysis-ica-vulnerability-foodinsecurity-and-natural-hazards

Government of Pakistan2013 Economic Survey of Pakistan 2012-13 Ministry of Finance Islamabad.Government of Punjab (GoP) 2006, Livestock Census, Lahore.

Haensler, A, 2013, Climate fact sheet for Pakistan, Climate Service Centre, Germany.

Hanif, U, Syed, SH, Ahmad, R, Malik, KA, and Nasir, M 2010, Economic Impact of Climate Change on the Agricultural Sector of Punjab, The Pakistan Development Review Vol. 49, No. 4, Papers and Proceedings PARTS I and II The 26th Annual General Meeting and Conference of the Pakistan Society of Development Economists Islamabad, December 28 - 30, 2010 (Winter 2010), pp. 771-798.

Hussain, Z, and Akram, W 2008, Persistent Food Insecurity from Policy Failures in Pakistan, The Pakistan Development Review, 817-818

IFAD 2016, Islamic Republic of Pakistan: Country Strategic Opportunities Programme, Executive Board, 119th session, Rome.

IFAD 2017, Southern Punjab Poverty Alleviation Project – Additional Financing (SPPAP-AF), final project design report, Asia and the Pacific Division, Programme Management Department. Iftikhar, S, and Mahmood, H Z 2017, Spatial distribution of agricultural resources and food security: A case of Punjab Pakistan, Cogent Food and Agriculture, 3(1).International Food Policy Research Institute (IFPRI) 2017, Global Hunger Index 2017, IFPRI, Washington.

Imran, I, and Ayaz, M 2015, Weather and Cotton Crop Development in Central Punjab, Pakistan Meteorological Department and Ayub Agriculture Research Institute, Jhang Road, Faisalabad, Pakistan.

IPCC 2012, Managing the risks of extreme events and disasters to advance climate change adaptation, CB Field, C, Barros, TF Stocker, D Qin, DJ, Dokken, KL Ebi, MD, Mastrandrea, K.J. Mach, G.-K. Plattner, SK Allen, M. Tignor and P.M. Midgley, eds. Available from Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK, 582 p.

IPCC 2014, Climate Change 2014: Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability, Summaries, Frequently Asked Questions, and Cross-Chapter Boxes, A Contribution of Working Group II to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [Field, C.B., V.R. Barros, D.J. Dokken, K.J.

IPCC, 2014, Climate Change 2014: Synthesis Report. Contribution of Working Groups I, II and III to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [Core Writing Team, R.K.

Jahangr, M, Ali, SM, and Khalid, B 2016, Annual minimum temperature variations in early 21st century in Punjab, Pakistan, Journal of Atmospheric and Solar-Terrestrial Physics, Volume 137, Pages 1-9.

Khan, T, Khan, REA and Raza, MA 2015, Gender Analysis of Malnutrition: A Case Study of School-Going Children in Bahawalpur, Asian Development Policy Review, 3(2), pp.29-48.

Khattak, S, and Ali, S 2015, Assessment of temperature and rainfall trends in Punjab province of Pakistan for the period 1961-2014 Journal of Himalayan Earth Sciences Volume 48, No. 2, 2015 pp.42-61.

Kissel, A.N. Levy, S. MacCracken,P.R. Mastrandrea, and L.L. White (eds.)], World Meteorological Organization, Geneva, Switzerland, 190 pp. (in Arabic, Chinese, English, French, Russian, and Spanish).

Kreft, S, Eckstein, D, and Melchoir, I 2017, Global Climate Risk Index 2017: Who Suffers Most from Extreme Weather Events? Weather-related Loss Events in 2015 and 1996 to 2015, Briefing paper, German Watch.

Mach, M.D. Mastrandrea, T.E. Bilir, M. Chatterjee, K.L. Ebi, Y.O. Estrada, R.C. Genova, B. Girma, E.S. Madzwamuze, M 2010, Climate Governance in Africa: Adaptation Strategies and Institutions, A Synthesis Report, Heinrich Boll Stiftung, Cape town: Unity Press.

Malik, S J, Nazli, H, and Whitney, E 2014, Food consumption patterns and implications for poverty reduction in Pakistan, 30th AGM Conference of Pakistan Society of Development, Islamabad: Pakistan Institute of Development Economics (PIDE).

Ministry of Climate Change 2013, The Environment and Climate Change Outlook of Pakistan, Government of Pakistan.

Muhammad A, T (2010). Economic Analysis Of Irrigation Induced Land Degradation In A Conjunctive Water Use Environment (Doctoral dissertation, University of Agriculture, Faisalabad)

Nasim, W, Belhouchette, H, Ahmad, A, Habib-ur-Rahman, M, Jabran, K, Ullah, K, and Hoogenboom, G 2016, Modelling climate change impacts and adaptation strategies for sunflower in Pakistan, Outlook on Agriculture, 45(1), 39-45.

National Nutritional Survey, (NNS) 2011, Planning and Development Division, Government of Pakistan. Online:

http://pakresponse.info/LinkClick.aspx?fileticket= Ao4srwdFVI%3D&tabid=117&mid=752

Nazli, H, and Hamid, S 1999 Concerns of food Insecurity, Role of Gender and Intrahousehold Dynamics in Pakistan Islamabad: Pakistan Institute of Development Economics (PIDE).

OECD2009, Integrating Climate Change into Development Cooperation: Policy Guidance, Environment Directorate Online available from https://www.oecd.org/dac/43652123.pdfPachauri and L.A. Meyer (eds.)], IPCC, Geneva, Switzerland, 151 pp.

Pakistan Bureau of Statistics 2016,Pakistan Unemployment Rate, Retrieved from Trading Economics:

https://tradingeconomics.com/pakistan/unemplo yment-rate

Pakistan Today, 2016, Farmers in Punjab to Get Android Phones, Pakistan Today, Online: https://www.pakistantoday.com.pk/2016/06/10/far mers-in-punjab-to-get-android-phones/. Pakistan vision 2025 2014, Ministry of Planning Development and Reform, Government of Pakistan.

PCCP 2017, Punjab Climate change policy, Government of Punjab, online: https://epd.punjab.gov.pk/system/files/PCCP%20 Draft%20(internatl).pdf

Planning Commission 2016 Pakistan's Revised Poverty Line, Government of Pakistan, Planning and Development Department, Islamabad.

PMD, 2016, Drought Bulletin of Pakistan, National Drought Monitoring Centre, Pakistan Meteorological Department.

Qatar Charity Report 2012, Emergency Situation Report # 2- D.G Khan & Rajunpur, South Punjab Pakistan, online at:

https://reliefweb.int/report/pakistan/emergencysituation-report-2-dg-khan-rajanpur-southpunjab-pakistan.

Qureshi, MA and Haq, AU, 2006, Irrigation reforms in Punjab: The implementation, experience and performance evaluation, In Proceedings of the 9th INPIM International Seminar held at the Avari Hotel, Lahore, Pakistan (pp. 4-8)

Ramay, S 2013, State of Food Security in Pakistan and Policy Options, Sustainable Development

Policy Institute. Islamabad: SDPI.

Rana, S 2017, 6th Census findings: 207million and counting, The Express Tribune, viewed in April, 2018, https://tribune.com.pk/story/1490674/57increase-pakistans-population-19-years-showsnew-census/

Rasheed and Khan 2015, Local Adaptation Plan of Action (LAPA) for Dera Ghazi Khan, Community-Based Initiative to Reduce the Effects of Waterlogging and Salinity, issue no 394, LEAD.Saeed, F., and Suleri, A Q 2015, Future Heatwaves in Pakistan under IPCC's: AR5 Climate Change Scenario, Islamabad, Pakistan.

Salik, KM, Ishfaq, S, Saeed, F, Noel, E, and Syed, Q 2015,Pakistan: Country situation assessment, Pathways to Resilience in Semi-Arid Economies, Working Paper.

Salma, S, Shah, MA and Rehman, S, 2012. Rainfall trends in different climate zones of Pakistan. Pakistan Journal of Meteorology, 9(17)

Samee, D, Nosheen, F, Khan, H N, Khowaja, I A, Jamali, K, Paracha, P I, 2015, Women in Agriculture in Pakistan, FAO, Islamabad: Food and Agriculture Organisation.

SDPI (Sustainable Development Policy Institute), 2009, Food Insecurity in Pakistan.

Sheikh, MM Manzoor, N Adnan, M Ashraf, J and Khan, AM 2009, Climate Profile and Past Climate Changes in Pakistan, Research Report No. GCISC-RR-01, Global Change Impact Studies Centre, Islamabad.

Siddique, R, Samad, G, Nasir, M, and Jalil, H 2009, The Impact of Climate Change on Major Agricultural Crops: Evidence from Punjab, Pakistan, Pakistan Institute of Development Economics.

Siddiqui, R, Samad, G, Nasir, M, and Jalil, HH 2012, The impact of climate change on major agricultural crops: evidence from Punjab, Pakistan, The Pakistan Development Review, 261-274.

Siyal, GA 2018, Farmers See Room for Improvement in Crop Loan Insurance Scheme (CLIS), The Express Tribune, Online: https://tribune.com.pk/story/1657400/2-farmerssee-room-improvement-crop-loan-insurancescheme/

State Bank of Pakistan 2017, Pakistan Core Inflation rate, Retrieved from Trading Economics: https://tradingeconomics.com/pakistan/coreinflation-rate

The Economist Intelligence Unit (EIU) 2017, Performance of Countries based on their Food Security Score 2017, online: https://foodsecurityindex.eiu.com/Index

The Inside History on Emergencies (IRIN) 2012, Inflation Hits Food Security, IRIN, online: http://www.irinnews.org/report/96849/pakistaninflation-hits-food-security

The Nation 2018, Punjab Govt to Distribute 110,000 Cell phones to Farmers, The Nation, Online, https://nation.com.pk/11-Mar-2018/punjab-govt-to-distribute-110-000-cellphones-to-farmers.

Umar 2017, Crop Insurance a hope for Small landholders, The Express Tribune, Online: https://tribune.com.pk/story/1532323/cropinsurance-hope-small-landholders/

UNDP 2016, Multidimensional poverty in Pakistan, online Available from:

http://www.pk.undp.org/content/pakistan/en/ho me/library/hiv_aids/Multidimensional-Poverty-in-Pakistan.html USDA Foreign Agricultural Service2018 Pakistan: Grain and Feed Annual, Global Agriculutral Information Network, Online : https://gain.fas.usda.gov/Recent%20GAIN%20Pu blications/Grain%20and%20Feed%20Annual_Isla mabad_Pakistan_4-3-2017.pdf

Usmani, M 2016, March 12 The State of Food Security in Pakistan, Online: http://jworldtimes.com/jwt2015/pakistanaffairs/the-state-of-food-security-in-pakistan/

Warrick R, Ashford G, Kouwenhoven P, Li Y, Urich P, Ye W (2012) Spatial risk-based assessments for climate adaptation using the SimCLIM modeling system: a case study of domestic rainwater harvesting as the sole source of water. Journal of Water and Climate Change 3:257–265

World Bank 2017, CSA Country Profiles for Asia: Climate Smart Agriculture in Pakistan, Relief web, Online, https://reliefweb.int/report/pakistan/csacountry-profiles-asia-climate-smart-agriculturepakistan.

World Food Program (WFP) 2017 Fill the Nutrient Gap: Pakistan, Summary Report, Nutrition Division, World Food Programme, Rome, Italy.

World Food Programme (WFP) 2017, Pakistan, Online: http://www1.wfp.org/countries/pakistan

World Food Programme (WFP) August 2017, Pakistan Food Security Bulletin, Islamabad: WFP.

Zahid, M and Rasul, G 2011, Frequency of extreme temperature & precipitation events in Pakistan 1965-2009, Science International (Lahore), Issue 23, vol 4, pp.313-319